ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Williamsburg County
Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

OCT 28 2013

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DAVID VICE,

APPELLANT

Appellate Case No. 2012-213412

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

WANDA H. CARTER
Deputy Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. The trial judge erred in allowing the jury to hear testimony that appellant had previously “run from the law” because this was prior bad acts evidence that prejudiced appellant’s trial.

- II. The trial judge erred in charging the jury that “actual knowledge of the presence of marijuana is strong evidence of the defendant’s intent to control its disposition or use” because this negated the mere presence charge, and constituted a comment on the weight of the evidence, and also denied the jurors the prerogative to draw permissive inferences when deciding issues of intent and possession in connection with both of the drug offenses (marijuana and cocaine) for which appellant was on trial.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant David R. Vice was convicted of failure to stop for a blue light, possession with intent to distribute marijuana, and trafficking in cocaine during the November, 2012 term of the Williamsburg County General Sessions Court before Judge Clifton Newman. Appellant was sentenced to imprisonment for an aggregate period of ten years. Matthew Swilley represented appellant at trial.

Appellant appealed his convictions and sentences. This brief follows.

QUESTION I

The trial judge erred in allowing the jury to hear testimony that appellant had previously “run from the law” because this was prior bad acts evidence that prejudiced appellant’s trial.

A traffic stop of appellant led to the drug charges (cocaine and marijuana) and a failure to stop charge lodged against him. At trial, Deputy Loy Hayes testified that he was patrolling the Red Road area of Williamsburg County on December 9, 2011, when he noticed a gray Chevy on the roadway. Deputy Hayes recalled that appellant usually drove this vehicle and that appellant’s license had been suspended. Nonetheless, Detective Hayes stated that he watched the Chevy vehicle cross the center line and move left of the center line while rounding a curve on Red Road. Deputy Hayes explained that as a result, he activated his blue lights and attempted to initiate a traffic stop, but that appellant kept driving until the chase ended. Also, Deputy Hayes remembered that he saw appellant throw a bag out of the window during the chase. R. 16, line 1-9.

Officer Robert Shearer stated that he assisted Deputy Hayes in the chase of appellant and stopped to retrieve the bag he saw appellant throw out of the car during the chase. Officer Shearer stated that the bag contained narcotics. R. 72, line 12- R. 75, line 23. Officer Shearer learned later that marijuana and cocaine were found inside the bag thrown out of the vehicle appellant drove on the day in question. R. 53, line 2- R. 59, line 24.

Appellant did not testify at trial and presented no witnesses or exhibits in his defense. However, an error occurred at trial when testimony about prior bad acts attributed to appellant was heard by the jury. This evidence came into play when Deputy Hayes made a comment regarding appellant’s past as follows:

Deputy Loy Hayes: I noticed that as he come (sic) around a curve I noticed the vehicle crossed over the center line.

Solicitor: Okay.

Deputy Loy Hayes: Which was left of center. Considering knowing that – of who the suspect was and knowing he was known to run from law enforcement.

Mr. Swilley: Objection, Your Honor. Your Honor, I'd make a motion for mistrial at this juncture.

Whereupon, the jury exits the courtroom.

The Court: Yes, sir?

Defense Counsel: Your Honor, based upon what I just heard I believe Deputy Hayes testified that [appellant] was known to run from law enforcement. Your Honor, that's an introduction of prior bad acts. I think that the jury now is going to be prejudiced against my client. The fact that he's put into the record the fact that [appellant] has had prior incidents [with] police indicates that he's had prior charges in relation to this – to this case and I would move – I would move the Court grant a mistrial in this case.

R. 16, l. 7-R. 17, l. 2.

The court sustained the objection, gave a curative instruction, and denied the motion for a mistrial. R. 21, l. 25 – R. 23, l. 1. Counsel responded with a “thank you.” R. 22, l.1. Nonetheless, this “run[ning] from law enforcement” comment was unduly prejudicial.

First, note that a defendant's character cannot be attacked in a case unless the defendant places his character in issue. Mitchell v. State, 298 S.C. 186, 379 S.E. 2d 123 (1989). Appellant, who did not testify at trial, did not place his character in issue at trial.

Next, note that the evidence of flight creates an inference of a guilty conscience. State v. Martin, 403 S.C. 19, 742 S.E.2d 42 (2013). Thus, Officer Hayes' message communicated to the jury was that appellant had “run from law enforcement” in the past (prior bad acts) probably because he was guilty in the past, and that since he allegedly failed to stop for a blue light in the instant case, then he was probably guilty of the crimes for which he was on trial.

Also, the prior bad acts testimony that appellant had a habit of running from police meant that appellant was well known by police in the criminal arena because he had obviously run from

police enough times in that past that he was able to gain this reputation. This in turn suggested that appellant had multiple criminal encounters with police, and that there was a likelihood that those encounters might have involved drug crimes as well. Nevertheless, despite the absence of details, Officer Hayes' prior bad act testimony painted a negative picture of appellant as one who frequently engaged in criminal activities and the attempted to elude capture by police.

Evidence of prior bad acts is inadmissible to show that the accused is a bad person or has the propensity to commit the crime charged. State v. Peake, 302 SC 378, 396 S.E. 2d 362 (1990). State v. Smith 309 SC 409, 419 S.E. 2d 816 (1992). Also, even if prior crimes are considered admissible under any Lyle¹ exceptions; nonetheless, the probative value of the priors must outweigh the prejudicial value. State v. Fletcher, 379 S.C. 17, 664 S.E.2d 480 (2008).

Here, Officer Hayes' prior bad act testimony in question portrayed appellant in a negative light and suggested that appellant possessed a criminal character and predisposition to commit crimes and run from police and that as a result, he was guilty of the offenses for which he was on trial.

The trial judge erred in allowing the jury to hear prior bad acts testimony indicating appellant's flight in connection with prior police encounters because the prejudicial value of such evidence outweighed its probative value, which in turn violated appellant's right to a fair trial guaranteed under the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article 1, §3 of the South Carolina State Constitution.

¹ Prior crimes can only be used in order to show motive, intent, identity, absence of mistake or accident or common scheme or plan. State v. Lyle, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803 (1923).

QUESTION II

The trial judge erred in charging the jury that “actual knowledge of the presence of marijuana is strong evidence of the defendant’s intent to control its disposition or use” because this negated the mere presence charge, and constituted a comment on the weight of the evidence, and also denied the jurors the prerogative to draw permissive inferences when deciding issues of intent and possession in connection with both of the drug offenses (marijuana and cocaine) for which appellant was on trial.

Petitioner was tried and convicted of possession with intent to distribute marijuana and trafficking in cocaine. In connection with these drug charges, the trial judge gave the following instructions to the jury:

The Court: the defendant is charged with possession with intent to distribute marijuana. The State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant possessed marijuana with the intent to distribute it. To prove possession, the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the defendant had both the power and the intent to control the disposition or use of the marijuana.

Possession may be either actual or constructive. Actual possession means that the defendant was in the actual physical custody. It means that the marijuana was in the actual physical custody of the defendant. Constructive possession means that the defendant had dominion and control or the right to exercise dominion or control either the marijuana itself or the property on which the marijuana was found.

Mere presence at the scene where the drugs were found is not enough to prove possession. Actual knowledge of the presence of the marijuana is strong evidence of the defendant’s intent to control its disposition or use. The defendant’s knowledge and possession may be inferred when a substance is found on the property under the defendant’s control. However, this inference is simply an evidentiary fact to be taken into consideration by you along with the other evidence in this case and to be given the weight you decide it should have. Distribute means to deliver rather than administering or dispensing a – or dispensing a drug. Intent may be shown by acts and conduct of the defendant and other circumstances from which you may naturally and reasonably infer intent. R. 107, l. 2 – R. 108, l. 5.