STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Williamsburg County
Honorable Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case Tracking No. 2012-213412

The State,

Respondent,

vs.

David Vice,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WILLIAM M. BLITCH, JR.
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 15608

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

OCT 28 2013

SC Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. The trial court did not err in allowing the jury to hear testimony of a prior bad act because the trial court sustained Appellant's objection to the testimony and issued a curative instruction. To the extent Appellant's argument could possibly be construed to contend the trial court erred in denying the motion for a mistrial, that issue is entirely without merit as any error was cured by the instruction.

- II. Even if the trial court charged the jury using the language subsequently prohibited by State v. Cheeks, 401 S.C. 322, 737 S.E.2d 480 (2013), this issue is clearly not preserved for review on appeal, and any error is entirely harmless.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State agrees with Appellant's procedural Statement of the Case.

ARGUMENT

- I. **The trial court did not err in allowing the jury to hear testimony of a prior bad act because the trial court sustained Appellant's objection to the testimony and issued a curative instruction. To the extent Appellant's argument could possibly be construed to contend the trial court erred in denying the motion for a mistrial, that issue is entirely without merit as any error was cured by the instruction.**

Appellant contends the trial court erred in allowing the jury to hear testimony Appellant had previously "run from the law" because this was prior bad acts evidence that prejudiced Appellant's trial. The trial court sustained Appellant's objection to the testimony and struck it from consideration by the jury. As a result, the trial court did not allow the jury to hear the evidence and there is no error for which Appellant can complain. To the extent his argument could be a claim the trial court erred in denying his motion for a mistrial, this issue is entirely without merit because any error was deemed cured by the instruction and any prejudice to Appellant does not warrant the drastic remedy of a mistrial.

First, Appellant raises the following issue on appeal in his Brief: "The trial judge erred in allowing the jury to hear testimony that appellant had previously 'run from the law' because this was prior bad acts evidence that prejudiced appellant's trial." (Br. App. 3, Statement of Issues on Appeal). At trial, Officer Hayes stated: "Considering knowing that - - if who the suspect was and knowing he was known to run from law enforcement - -". Appellant immediately objected to the testimony by the officer, and argued the admission was improper because it was evidence of prior bad acts. (T.80; R. p. 16). The trial court then sustained the objection and issued a curative instruction including striking

the testimony from the record. (T.86; R. p. 22). As a result, the trial court could not have erred in allowing the testimony in front of the jury when he specifically struck it from the record and instructed the jury to “disregard the entire question and response.” (T.86; R. p. 22). As a result, there is no relief this Court can offer beyond that provided by the trial court. See e.g., State v. Sinclair, 275 S.C. 608, 610, 274 S.E.2d 411, 412 (1981) (“Inasmuch as the appellant obtained the only relief he sought, this court has no issue to decide.”); see also State v. Thompson, 304 S.C. 85, 87, 403 S.E.2d 139, 140 (Ct. App. 1991) (Appellant obtained the only relief he sought and, therefore, the Court has no issue to decide).

To the extent his issue on appeal can be read to address the trial court’s error lies in the denial of his motion for a mistrial, the issue is entirely without merit. A mistrial should not be ordered in every case when incompetent evidence is received and later stricken out. State v. Simpson, 325 S.C. 37, 479 S.E.2d 57 (1996); State v. Moyd, 321 S.C. 256, 263, 468 S.E.2d 7, 11 (Ct.App.1996) (holding a trial court should exhaust other available methods to cure prejudice before aborting a trial, and where the prejudicial effect is minimal, a mistrial need not be granted in every case where incompetent evidence is received and later stricken and a curative instruction is given). “Generally, a curative instruction is deemed to have cured any alleged error.” State v. Patterson, 337 S.C. 215, 226, 522 S.E.2d 845, 850 (Ct. App. 1999); State v. Jones, 325 S.C. 310, 479 S.E.2d 517 (Ct. App. 1996); see also, State v. Kelsey, 331 S.C. 50, 502 S.E.2d 63 (1998) (instruction to disregard inadmissible evidence is usually viewed as having cured the error in its admission); State v. George, 323 S.C. 496, 476 S.E.2d 903 (1996) (if trial judge sustains timely objection to testimony and gives jury curative instruction to

disregard testimony, error is deemed to be cured); State v. White, 371 S.C. 439, 445, 639 S.E.2d 160, 163 (Ct. App. 2006) (“A curative instruction to disregard incompetent evidence and not to consider it during deliberation is deemed to have cured any alleged error in its admission.”).

The curative instruction in the instant case sufficiently cured any possible prejudice from the testimony even if it were inadmissible as improper prior bad act testimony. The trial court instructed the jury Officer Hayes’s answer was not appropriate, and it was struck from the record. (T.86; R. p 22). The jury is expected to follow the instructions given to it, and in this case the jury was to strike the question and answer. See Conner v. City of Forest Acres, 363 S.C. 460, 471, 611 S.E.2d 905, 910 (2005) (finding the case should be analyzed “in light of the presumption the jury followed the trial courts instructions to ignore any evidence” excluded by the court); Foye v. State, 335 S.C. 586, 590 n.1, 518 S.E.2d 265, 267 n.1 (1999) (jury is presumed to follow instructions).

Further, a trial judge’s ruling on a motion for a mistrial will not be disturbed absent an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law. State v. Sparkman, 358 S.C. 491, 495, 596 S.E.2d 375, 377 (2004); State v. Harris, 340 S.C. 59, 63, 530 S.E.2d 626, 628 (2000). This Court favors the exercise of wide discretion of the trial judge in determining the merits of such motion in each individual case. See State v. Patterson, 337 S.C. 215, 226, 522 S.E.2d 845, 851 (Ct. App. 1999).

A mistrial should be declared only when absolutely necessary. In order to receive a mistrial, the defendant must show error and resulting prejudice. Harris, 340 S.C. at 63, 530 S.E.2d at 628; State v. Ward, 374 S.C. 606, 612, 649 S.E.2d 145, 148 (Ct. App.

2007). “A mistrial should only be granted in cases of manifest necessity and with the greatest caution for very plain and obvious reasons.” Patterson, 337 S.C. at 227, 522 S.E.2d at 851 (citing State v. Wasson, 299 S.C. 508, 386 S.E.2d 255 (1989); State v. Kirby, 269 S.C. 25, 236 S.E.2d 33 (1977) (power of court to declare mistrial ought to be used with greatest caution under urgent circumstances, and for very plain and obvious causes)). Granting of a mistrial is a serious and extreme measure which should only be taken when the prejudice can be removed no other way. State v. Edwards, 373 S.C. 230, 236, 644 S.E.2d 66, 69 (Ct. App. 2007) (citing State v. Stanley, 365 S.C. 24, 34, 615 S.E.2d 455, 460 (Ct. App. 2005)).

The testimony at trial, that the officer was seeking to block Appellant because he was known to run from law enforcement, is not such as would render the trial unfair. Any prejudice possibly created from the vague comment by the officer was not of the sort of urgent circumstances warranting the drastic measure of a mistrial. See State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 13, 515 S.E.2d 508, 514 (1999) (finding no prejudice resulted from the admission of testimony establishing that law enforcement already had Council’s fingerprints on record at the time of his arrest for the charged offense); State v. Singleton, 284 S.C. 388, 392, 326 S.E.2d 153, 156 (1985) (finding an arresting officer's vague references to prior crimes in the jury's presence did not warrant the granting of a mistrial), overruled on other grounds by State v. Torrence, 305 S.C. 45, 406 S.E.2d 315 (1991); State v. Robinson, 238 S.C. 140, 150-151, 119 S.E.2d 671, 676 (1961) (finding testimony by a witness that Robinson told him that he was on the way to the “probation office” did not create an inference that Robinson had been convicted of another crime), overruled on other grounds by State v. Torrence, 305 S.C. 45, 406 S.E.2d 315 (1991);

State v. Thompson, 352 S.C. 552, 561, 575 S.E.2d 77, 82 (Ct. App. 2003) (“[A] vague reference to a defendant's prior criminal record is not sufficient to justify a mistrial where there is no attempt by the State to introduce evidence that the accused has been convicted of other crimes.”). As a result, the trial court did not err in denying Appellant’s motion for a mistrial.

In addition, testimony similar to the testimony objected to by Appellant and sustained by the trial court was subsequently solicited by Appellant’s own counsel. (T.108; R. p.44). Counsel did not object when the testimony came in as a result of his questioning. As a result, he cannot now complain of any error. See State v. Stanko, 402 S.C. 252, 270, 741 S.E.2d 708, 717 (2013) (“Appellant cannot now complain of an error which his own conduct induced.”).

Finally, as an additional sustaining ground, if the testimony is to be analyzed as a prior bad act, the State asserts the testimony was properly admissible. Under Rule 404, SCRE and State v. Lyle, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803 (1923). The testimony would demonstrate an absence of mistake or accident in regards to Appellant’s failure to stop and his decision to drive past Officer Hayes in an attempt to evade being stopped. Further, the testimony was not being offered as a prior bad act, but to explain the reason for the Officer’s decision to block the road to try and stop Appellant. (T.80; 87-88; R. p. 16; pp. 23-24). Accordingly, the trial court could have found the testimony properly admissible.

Therefore, the trial court did not err in its handling of the testimony by Officer Hayes, and this Court should affirm the trial court’s ruling.

II. Even if the trial court charged the jury using the language subsequently prohibited by State v. Cheeks, 401 S.C. 322, 737 S.E.2d 480 (2013), this issue is clearly not preserved for review on appeal and any error is entirely harmless.

Appellant maintains the trial court erred in charging the jury: “Actual knowledge of the presence of the marijuana is strong evidence of the defendant’s intent to control its disposition or use.” This issue is not preserved for review on appeal because Appellant never raised an objection to this portion of the charge. Further, even if preserved any error is entirely harmless as Appellant cannot demonstrate he was “merely present” when the drugs were found and was not prejudiced by the charge given.

Preservation

First, the issue is not properly preserved for review on appeal. The trial court charged the jury:

Mere presence at the scene where the drugs were found is not enough to prove possession. Actual knowledge of the presence of the marijuana is strong evidence of the defendant’s intent to control its disposition or use. The defendant’s knowledge and possession may be inferred when a substance is found on the property under which the defendant - - found on the property under the defendant’s control. However, this inference is simply an evidentiary fact to be taken into consideration by you along with the other evidence in this case and to be given the weight you decide it should have.

(T.227-228; R. pp. 107-108). After the court’s charge to the jury, Appellant raised an objection. Specifically, he stated:

I have an objection to where you mentioned - - you used the term inferred for property under which the defendant controls as far as possession. Your Honor, I just - - just for the record on appeal, I just object and say that’s a comment on the facts, as well as comments about a verdict that speaks the truth.

(T.232; R. p. 112). At no time did Appellant object to the “strong evidence” language that was found improper in Cheeks. His objection was to another portion of the charge regarding the inference the jury can make from Appellant’s control of the property. As a result, the issue is clearly not preserved for review on appeal. See State v. Stahlnecker, 386 S.C. 609, 617, 690 S.E.2d 565, 570 (2010) (“For an issue to be properly preserved it has to be raised to and ruled on by the trial court.”); State v. Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 196, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448 (2003) (holding a defendant may not argue one ground at trial and another on appeal).

Prejudice

Even if the issue is preserved for review, Appellant cannot demonstrate how he was prejudiced by the charge given by the court and, therefore, is not entitled to a reversal of his conviction and sentence. “Errors, including erroneous jury instructions, are subject to harmless error analysis.” State v. Belcher, 385 S.C. 597, 611-612, 685 S.E.2d 802, 809 (2009); see also, Cheeks, 401 S.C. at 329, 737 S.E.2d at 484 (conducting harmless error analysis to determine whether defendant prejudiced by improper jury charge); Lowry v. State, 376 S.C. 499, 510–11, 657 S.E.2d 760, 766 (2008) (same).

In the instant case, as in Cheeks, Appellant cannot demonstrate how he was prejudiced by the jury charge even in light of the fact the “strong evidence” language has been deemed improper. In Cheeks, the Supreme Court concluded:

Appellant cannot show prejudice from the charge in this case, however, as there was no evidence that he was “merely present” at Markley’s house when the search warrant was executed. Rather the evidence was that he was actively cooking crack cocaine when the warrant was served, and that he possessed the 650 grams of crack found on the kitchen counter. Further, in light of the overwhelming evidence of appellant’s guilt, he cannot

demonstrate prejudice warranting reversal from the adjective “strong” used in the charge.

Cheeks, 401 S.C. at 329, 737 S.E.2d at 484.

In the case *sub judice*, Appellant was seen disposing of the bag containing the narcotics. Specifically, Officer Hayes testified he saw face to face Appellant drive past him even after he turned on his blue lights to stop Appellant. (T.87-88; R. pp. 23-24). He testified as he chased Appellant, Officer Hayes observed Appellant throw a bag out of the vehicle. (T.90; R. p. 26). And when the bag was presented at trial, Officer Hayes identified it as “the bag David Vice [Appellant] threw out the window of his vehicle.” (T.91; R. p.27). Further, Officer Hayes testified he did not see anyone in the passenger seat of the vehicle. (T.112; R. p. 48). Also, the State presented a copy of the video recording taken from Officer Hayes’s in car camera. It clearly shows Appellant disposing of the bag. (T.97; R. p. 33; State’s Exhibit 3). Finally, Sergeant Shearer, who retrieved the bag thrown, testified: “And I actually seen Mr. Vice [Appellant] holding a bag out the window that when he dropped, I retrieved.” (T.155; R. p. 74).

The contents of the bag were determined to be 52.8 grams of cocaine. (T.146-148; R. pp. 69-71). Additionally, marijuana was found in the bag. (T.128; R. p. 61). The officers also located scales, a cell phone, and plastic bags during the search of the bag. (T.158-159; R. pp. 77-78). Finally, Appellant had over \$3,400 taken off his person when he was finally stopped by police. (T.133-134; R. pp. 65-66).

Appellant was not merely present with the drugs; instead, he was the only one with control and possession of the drugs. Officers saw him throwing the bag out of the window, and Appellant’s disposal of the bag was also documented by video. Officer Shearer immediately retrieved the bag, which was found to contain cocaine and

marijuana. Appellant could not have been prejudiced by the improper charge in light of the absence of any evidence he was “merely present” and the overwhelming evidence of his guilt.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.